Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries









Cover image: Bidi Bidi Refugee Settlement - Esther Mbabazi

The Global Compact on Refugees Three Years On:
Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Executive Summary

December 2021 will mark the third anniversary of the affirmation of the Global Compact on Refugees (GCR) by the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA), the second anniversary of the first Global Refugee Forum (GRF), and the first opportunity to take stock of progress measured against GCR objectives and GRF pledges at a High-Level Officials' Meeting (HLOM), scheduled to take place in Geneva in mid-December.

However, three years on, little is still known about the results, challenges, and opportunities from GCR implementation. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, new and re-emerging crises, and in some cases, a concerning trend of hardening of positions and negative rhetoric toward refugees and migrants in domestic politics are testing international support for refugees and the communities and countries that host them, as encapsulated in the GCR.

The Danish Refugee Council (DRC), International Rescue Committee (IRC), and Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC) commissioned this research in September and October 2021 to help fill this important accountability gap around GCR implementation. This qualitative report draws from 48 Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) and a complementary desk review, offering detailed analysis of how the GCR is influencing responses in three select host countries - Uganda, Colombia, and Bangladesh - and four key donors - the European Union (EU), United States (US), Germany, and Denmark. It also explores whether and the ways in which other states are supporting refugees in terms of financial, political, and other kinds of assistance. It is designed to complement the forthcoming first report against the GCR Indicator Framework developed in 2019, by providing a snapshot of changes in refugee policies and practices since the adoption of the GCR and the type of support still needed to facilitate access to durable solutions. While this report intentionally focuses on donor and host governments, DRC, IRC, and NRC recognise the importance of including countries or origin, as well as local and refugee voices in future research efforts of this kind.

Key findings and implications

Operationalising responsibility-sharing

 The GCR does not seem to be considered in at least two of the major host countries under review in this study, calling into question the political will of the international community to ensure better and more predictable responses to protracted displacement contexts. While Uganda was an early implementer of the Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework (CRRF), a central part of the GCR, and has embraced the GCR as a tool to call for more predictable and equitable responsibility sharing, in the two other host countries researched for this report, Bangladesh and Colombia, GCR accountability remains lacking. Colombia has made significant progress in extending protection and assistance for the 1.7 million 'Venezuelans displaced abroad.'* However, the Government of Colombia refers to people displaced from Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of) as migrants, and the Government has not appeared to use the GCR objectives to frame their response, despite United Nations Refugee Agency (UNHCR) guidance that the majority fleeing would at the least meet agreed upon definitions of who comprises 'refugees.' In Bangladesh, the Government has consistently not recognised the more than 742,000 Rohingya in Bangladesh as refugees, and the lack of effective incentives (financial and political) to operationalise the GCR has meant the GCR is never referred to, despite the Government's joining 180 other States in voting to affirm the GCR in December 2018.

Donor states often perceive the GCR as foreign policy, rather than a domestic responsibility. Donors often risk undermining the GCR by being constructive abroad but obstructive at home. Many have argued the paradigm shift regarding refugee policies that has emerged was the result of the so-called refugee and migrant crisis in Europe from 2015 onwards. This framing of migration management is not just affecting donors' external actions, with the last few years seeing a hardening of rhetoric, policies, and political positioning across donor countries, but it is also weakening the asylum space within some countries. Elements of the new EU Migration and Asylum Pact, continued political deadlock on responsibility sharing within the EU, and Denmark's recent pursuit of the externalisation of asylum procedures illustrate the growing disconnect between strong donor support for the GCR alongside improved international responses to refugees and host communities abroad, and a different agenda at home, which frequently undermines the international protection regime.

Improving the quality and quantity of funding

3. It remains unclear whether the GCR has supported increased and more predictable funding for refugees, host communities, and host countries, as well as greater medium to long-term development financing rather than short-term

^{*} This is the term used by the United Nations Refugee Agency (UNHCR) to describe those fleeing the largest exodus in recent history in Latin America.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

humanitarian assistance. GCR approaches require more - not less - funding when a combination of humanitarian, catalytic, transitional, and development financing is needed. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's (OECD) preliminary findings for 2020 indicate that Official Development Assistance (ODA) rose by 3.5 percent in real terms compared to 2019, but these figures encompass more than solely funding to refugees and host countries, and therefore cannot confirm whether funding has increased for refugee situations. In 2021, refugee response plans in all three identified host countries remain chronically underfunded like previous years (between 34 and 44 percent funded per current reporting).

- 4. Development approaches and medium- to longer-term development financing are being more widely adopted, and key donors are supporting some promising 'nexus' approaches aligned with the GCR. While the humanitariandevelopment-peace nexus is not new, this framing for the GCR has spurred increased engagement of the World Bank Group (WBG) and development cooperation from all four identified donors. Although the development financing agenda for some donors has been squarely framed in migration management terms, there is a need for new financing windows, instruments, and partnerships in host countries' refugee responses. With a development-oriented approach now a widely recognised norm, discourse needs to move from calling for development actors to engage, to holding them accountable for their role in providing long-term financing, to more effectively addressing the protracted nature of forced displacement.
- 5. Among donors, the GCR/CRRF approach provides a useful basis for discussion of the implementation of nexus approaches, but pre-existing structural factors are impeding further progress and full accountability for supporting refugees and hosts. All donors researched stated that in refugee situations they are applying a nexus approach using both humanitarian funding and development cooperation. They mentioned that while conceptually the GCR logic is now part of their overall strategies toward forced displacement, further work is needed to ensure harmonisation and synchronisation of approaches leading to impact at scale and more predictable support to refugees, host countries, and host communities.

Creating enabling conditions for implementation of the GCR

6. Most changes in refugee policy and practice in the last three years have been linked to local solutions. For some host countries, implementing a GCR approach requires a significant shift in policies and practices to see refugees not as a burden and to fully realise their economic potential. At the 2019, GRF host countries made over 280 pledges in relation to law- and policymaking, with many focusing on national inclusion and legal and policy frameworks in line with the GCR. There has also been some promising momentum around such shifts in approaches, including Colombia's continued efforts to support the regularisation of Venezuelan refugees and migrants and their access to protection, health and education services, and labour market opportunities. However, more needs to be done to take these pledges as the starting point and support coordinated multi-stakeholder support to move many of them toward implementation.

- More focus and support on the 'how' of implementing GCR/CRRF approaches is needed. Different stakeholders must work toward collective outcomes and support whole-of-government approaches. This requires a more nuanced political economy analysis of potential sensitivities in hosting refugees in specific host countries and more integrated multi-stakeholder engagement and commitment of humanitarian and development partners, including operational agencies and donors, to plan together and engage coherently through calibrated political dialogue, technical assistance, and financing to help shift incentives toward creating enabling legal and policy environments. Despite political goodwill, implementing the GCR in Uganda remains challenging, but it can offer key learnings that can be applied around CRRF architecture and inclusion of refugees into national development plans in other country contexts.
- broadly, including developing creative solutions.

 The research revealed that while there has been a strong level of engagement among governments with several of the key 'arrangements for responsibility- sharing' established by the GCR most notably the GRF and the three Support Platforms for responses to displacement in Afghanistan, Central America, and the Horn of and East Africa a number of the other 'arrangements' are yet to reach fruition. There is also the opportunity to further strengthen regional and sub-regional approaches in support of the Rohingya and Venezuelan displacement crises, in line with the objectives of Regional Support Platforms.
- 9. Although COVID-19 has played a major role in hampering refugee responses, there has been a decline, rather than an increase, in the availability of third country solutions since the GCR was affirmed. One of the earliest and most visible impacts of the pandemic on refugees was the suspension of resettlement travel. Although resettlement travel resumed three months after the onset of the pandemic, the pandemic helped drive resettlement down in 2020 to its lowest level in almost two decades. In a year when 'The Three-Year Strategy (2019-2021) on Resettlement and Complementary Pathways', developed under the auspices of the GCR, aimed to see 70,000 refugees

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

- resettled through the UNHCR alone, just 22,770 people were resettled. While the United States' recent commitment to resettling up to 125,000 refugees in 2022 is auspicious, for resettlement to be a true demonstration of responsibility-sharing, resettlement numbers need to substantially increase and more states need to be involved.
- 10. Efforts to broaden the base of states engaging actively in the international refugee protection regime have not yet yielded results. A key objective of the GCR is to engage more states in the international refugee protection regime, with the Compact noting that more equitable responsibility-sharing must involve widening the support base beyond those countries that have historically hosted and supported refugees. A multi-stakeholder strategy to achieve this objective should focus on aligning incentives for deeper engagement, including linking refugee protection to other core state interests, and expanding visibility for states who choose to engage, for example at global events such as the second GRF in 2023.

If there were a scorecard against GCR progress three years on, the international community collectively would not pass. While there are some significant examples of changes in policies and practices, such as the cemented role of development actors in refugee responses and the real ambition of host countries to implement a GCR approach, there is still work to be done.

This work is a collective responsibility. It requires the concerted effort of host countries, donors, and many states who are currently not contributing their fair share, both in terms of financing and resettlement. It also requires the support of humanitarian and development actors, including UNHCR and all relevant UN agencies, as well as NGOs like DRC, IRC, and NRC. Through this research, these NGOs recommit to not only playing their part in implementation in countries, but also to further policy development at the regional and national levels; and to hold themselves, but also states, to account.

Key recommendations

- 1. The international community must show stronger support for the GCR as a whole and urgently prioritise more equitable and predictable responsibility-sharing towards refugees before the next GRF in 2023. Donor governments must intensify their political and diplomatic efforts to support responsibility-sharing pledges made at the 2019 GRF. Host states must take a more consistent approach to ensure the GCR is being applied in all refugee-hosting contexts.
- Donor governments should take immediate steps to ensure responsibility-sharing towards refugees beyond foreign policy and international financing. Donor governments' GCR progress should also

- be assessed against their role in upholding international refugee protection at home, including by safeguarding the asylum space and supporting third country solutions.
- 3. Existing resettlement targets globally are woefully insufficient, both substantively to address massive protection needs and symbolically as a reasonable demonstration of solidarity and responsibility-sharing with countries that host the majority of refugees, even when accounting for COVID-19 setbacks. As a priority for 2022, governments should commit to raise their resettlement targets. UN agencies and civil society must work together to hold states accountable against a further erosion of resettlement commitments.
- 4. OECD's collaboration with UNHCR on refugee-related financing flows should intensify to provide more detailed annual data on overall levels of funding, humanitarian versus development financing, modalities, recipient countries, etc. Better data on these financial flows will lead to a deeper understanding of, and improved accountability for, the financing of refugee responses, including gaps.
- 5. Development actors must play a larger and more predictable role in financing the response to protracted forced displacement contexts, following the early groundwork laid by the World Bank and some key refugee donors. Other multilateral development banks in particular should provide much needed development financing to support host countries at the outset of refugee situations to incentivise refugee-friendly policies.
- 6. Donors should take urgent steps to link their humanitarian and development sections and strategies to facilitate greater coherence and deliver on the nexus approach. These efforts should include engaging in policy dialogues with host countries.
- 7. UNHCR, together with humanitarian and development partners and with funding from donors, should focus more on implementing the GCR at the country level. This includes funding sustained government technical capacity to lead GCR implementation and linking existing refugee responses to national development plans.
- 8. UNHCR, together with interested actors including states, international organisations, and civil society, must undertake coordinated strategic initiatives to bring in a wider range of states to support comprehensive refugee responses against which progress can be reported at the next GRF.

Acronyms

Asylum Capacity Support Group	ACSG
Association for Southeast Asian Nations	ASEAN
Bureau of Population, Refugees, and Migration within the US Department of State	PRM
Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework	CRRF
Comprehensive Regional Protection and Solutions Framework	MIRRPS
Danish Refugee Council	DRC
Development Assistance Committee	DAC
European Centre for Development Policy Management	ECDPM
European Union	EU
EU Directorate-General for International Partnerships	INTPA
EU Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection Department	ECHO
EU Trust Fund	EUTF
Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development	BMZ
German Federal Foreign Office	GFFO
Global Compact on Refugees	GCR
Global Refugee Forum	GRF
High Level Officials Meeting	HLOM
Inter-Agency Coordination Platform for Refugees and Migrants from Venezuela	R4V
International Network on Conflict and Fragility	INCAF
International Organization for Migration	IOM
International Rescue Committee	IRC
International Development Association	IDA
Joint World Bank-UNHCR Data Center	JDC
Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument	NDICI
Norwegian Refugee Council	NRC
Official Development Assistance	ODA
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Refugee Status Determination	RSD
Regional Durable Solutions Secretariat	ReDSS
Regional Refugee and Migrant Plan	RMRP
Regional Sub-Window for Refugees and Host Communities	RSW
Special Stay Permit	PEP
Special Permit to Stay for the Promotion of Formalization	PEP-FF
Temporary Protection Status	TPS
United Nations	UN
United Nations General Assembly	UNGA
United Nations Refugee Agency	UNHCR
United States Agency for International Assistance	USAID
United States of America	US
Window for Host Communities and Refugees	WHR
World Bank Group	WBG

The Global Compact on Refugees Three Years On: Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Contents

Executive Summary	3
Acronyms	6
I. Introduction	8
Forced displacement in 2021	8
Research rationale	9
II. Methodology	10
Research logic	10
Methodology	10
Key limitations	11
III. Has the Global Compact on Refugees become truly global in its application?	12
Among donor states the GCR is often perceived as foreign policy related rather than also a domestic responsibility	14
IV. Has the GCR led to more funding for refugees and host communities and the right type of financing for host countries?	16
It is unclear if the GCR has supported increased and more predictable funding for refugees, host communities, and host countries	16
The need for development approaches and for medium to long-term development financing is more widely recognised	18
The GCR/CRRF approach is providing a useful basis for discussion of the implementation of nexus approaches	19
V. Has the GCR supported better protection, inclusion, and solutions for refugees?	21
Most changes in refugee policy and practice in the last three years are linked to local solutions	21
More focus and support on the 'how' of implementing GCR/CRRF approaches is therefore needed	22
There are opportunities to use the GCR more broadly, including developing creative solutions	23
Although COVID-19 has played a major role, there have been fewer third country solutions since the adoption of the GCR	24
Efforts to engage more states in the international refugee protection regime require greater progress	25
VI. Conclusion and recommendations	26
Conclusion	26
Recommendations	27
References	29
Acknowledgments	32

I. Introduction

Providing refugees with protection and assistance, enhancing their self-reliance, and expanding access to durable solutions continues to outstrip available resources, challenges current refugee response approaches, and has been complicated by the COVID-19 pandemic. By the end of 2020, 82.4 million people were forcibly displaced, including 30.5 million refugees and asylum seekers and an additional 3.9 million Venezuelans displaced abroad who have not yet received asylum or refugee status but require international protection.¹

The pandemic, protracted conflict, new and re-emerging crises, and in several cases, a concerning trend of hardening of positions and negative rhetoric toward refugees and migrants in domestic politics are testing momentum and the international support for refugees and the communities and countries that host them encapsulated in the 2018 Global Compact on Refugees. The affirmation of the GCR marked a high point of global solidarity and commitment to better protect and support refugees and host communities, but three years on, the question of whether the GCR remains both a relevant and effective tool to meet its ambitious objectives remains.

Forced displacement in 2021

Since 2018, the Syrian crisis has stretched into its tenth year, forced displacement from Venezuela has dramatically increased, millions of refugees remain in protracted displacement contexts across the Horn of and East Africa, and Rohingyas' displacement in Bangladesh and Myanmar will soon meet the UNHCR definition of a protracted displacement situation - among other worsening regional refugee situations.

The COVID-19 pandemic has further complicated addressing refugees' protection, vulnerabilities, and needs. UNHCR warned that COVID-19 containment measures disproportionately affect refugees and forcibly displaced persons, pushing them deeper into poverty, reducing incomes and even permanently destroying prospects for livelihoods, further constricting their access to the labour market for those working in the informal economy, and constraining their ability to access durable solutions.² COVID-19 has also impacted their ability to flee war and persecution and reach safety, with arrivals of refugees and asylum seekers sharply down in most regions in 2020 (comparative figures are not yet available for 2021).³

The WBG has said that while global recovery from the pandemic has been strong, progress remains uneven, and for many developing and low-income countries where 86 percent of refugees live⁴, serious negative impacts will

persist into the next few years.⁵ The pandemic could also have significant repercussions for levels of international financial assistance to support refugee responses by host countries in the medium term. While in 2020 the OECD noted that global ODA rose by 3.5 percent in real terms compared to 2019, this increase occurred in part because 2020 ODA budgets had already been adopted by the onset of the pandemic, enabling countries' accountability to previously made commitments.⁶ However, the OECD noted that while traditionally ODA has been a stable source of development financing during financial crises, "...given the global economic impacts of the pandemic, it is uncertain if ODA volumes will continue to grow or remain stagnant in the coming years."

A new way of supporting refugees and host countries

The GCR represented a key opportunity to transform the way in which the international community responds to refugee situations. It built on the 2016 UNGA New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants and the CRRF, an annex to the Declaration piloted in specific situations that experienced large-scale movements of refugees and protracted refugee situations. The CRRF forms an integral part of the GCR (Part II) with both the CRRF and GCR sharing the same objectives, namely to: (1) ease the pressure on host countries; (2) enhance refugee self-reliance; (3) expand access to third country solutions; and (4) support conditions in countries of origin for return in safety and dignity.

Filippo Grandi, UN High Commissioner for Refugees, December 2018⁸

The [2018 UNGA] resolution underscores the importance of the global compact on refugees as a representation of political will and the ambition to operationalize the principle of burden- and responsibility-sharing, to mobilize the international community as a whole, and to galvanize action for an improve response to refugee situations.

The GCR set out a 'programme of action' for more equitable and predictable responsibility-sharing by United Nations (UN) member states and relevant stakeholders, recognising that solutions to displacement require international cooperation. Its primary purpose was to bring together different cohorts of states – including donor countries, host countries, and countries that have not historically contributed to refugee

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

responses in terms of hosting or financing – to commit to changes in refugee policy and practice and widen the support base.

Volker Türk, (former) Assistant High Commissioner (Protection) UNHCR, 2018⁹

The new arrangements in the Global Compact on Refugees have the potential take us much further towards a more predictable response to refugee situations than we are today. They are robust, practicable, and implementable, and provide a solid basis from which to move forward. They represent the best that can be achieved in a document that aims to articulate, in effect, commitments for everyone, but which is at the same time voluntary and legally non-binding.

Research rationale

Since 2018, governments and other relevant stakeholders have committed to a variety of initiatives to implement the GCR, most notably at the first GRF organised by the UNHCR and six states in December 2019. Three years on, however, little is still known about the results, challenges, and opportunities of GCR implementation. Moreover, there is currently limited information available on how the GCR has impacted the range of durable solutions put in place by key states in their different roles as donors, hosts, or countries of origin. Therefore, governments, civil society, and other GCR stakeholders are currently unable to determine whether and how the GCR is making a difference in government policy or practice - and whether it is ultimately improving refugee inclusion, protection, and well-being.

International Rescue Committee, June 2018¹⁰

Committing to a multi-stakeholder process to define collective outcomes, targets, and indicators, and then holding each other accountable for them, will determine the success of the Global Compact in the long run

DRC, IRC, and NRC commissioned this joint study to look at a cross-section of donor and host countries and help fill this important accountability gap. By looking at the actions taken by a subset of governments and a series of case studies across three regions (Horn of and East Africa, South America, and South Asia), important lessons can be documented and key recommendations drawn out for more effective refugee inclusion and protection. This qualitative piece of research is meant to provide more detailed analysis on how the GCR is influencing select host countries and key refugee donors. It is designed to complement the forthcoming first GCR Indicator Report produced by the UNHCR and built around the macro-level indicator framework agreed upon in 2019.



Cucuta, Venezuela – Everardo Esquivel

II. Methodology

Research logic

Primary research question

Is the GCR making a difference in government policy and/or practice and improving refugee inclusion, protection and well-being?

Research subquestions What changes in refugee policies and practices has the GCR produced among key donor governments, host countries and other countries who have not historically contributed to refugee responses? What kind of support from these governments is still needed to facilitate access to durable solutions (voluntary repatriation, resettlement and local integration) and complementary pathways for refugees, including women and girls?

Research output Analysis of current prospects for more equitable and predictable responsibility sharing, changes in policies and/or practices since the GCR supporting better protection and inclusion, status of implementation of related GRF pledges and contributions (lessons learned, good practice and role GCR/GRF)

Analysis of ongiong key barriers and incentives to implementation of the GCR – global and case study countries' level presentation of what is needed to better support durable solutions and overcome barriers to refugee inclusion and protection (operational focus, key considerations)

In line with the GCR objectives of more predictable and equitable responsibility-sharing for refugees, the research looked at different cohorts of states:

- Key donors large refugee donors, namely the US, EU, Germany, and Denmark, given their focus on both humanitarian funding and development cooperation in forced displaced contexts and the design of durable solutions
- Host countries Uganda (Horn of and East Africa), Colombia (Latin America), and Bangladesh (Asia) to enable comparison across regions but also different displacement contexts and refugee policy landscapes in terms of GCR relevance and implementation
- "Other" member states broadly defined as member states neither providing significant donor support to refugee responses (i.e., USD \$20 million or more per year in previous funding years) nor currently hosting large numbers of refugees (i.e., usually 300,000 or more)

Methodology

In addition to global and country-specific desk reviews, targeted KIIs also informed qualitative primary research. In total 48 KIIs (with 60 persons) were conducted at the global, regional, and country level, broken down broadly by:

- Government officials from both donor agencies and host countries (11)
- Humanitarian and development agencies including the UNHCR and WBG (9)
- Civil society organisations at the global, regional, and country level (24)
- Researchers and academics (4)

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Key limitations

A key constraint was the identification of and timely access to the most relevant stakeholders, particularly government officials. Where there are gaps in primary data for this research this is noted and supplemented with desk review information. This limitation is most relevant for research on countries that have not historically contributed to refugee responses, where a lack of existing networks within the government hindered timely access. For these contexts, only desk review analysis was used. A longer-term and more dedicated piece of research led by UNHCR, in coordination with civil society stakeholders around broadening the support base, would be timely ahead of the next GRF in 2023.

The research did not include countries of origin, despite their importance both in terms of addressing root causes of displacement and the GCR objective linked to supporting conditions in countries of origin for return in safety and dignity, given that the report focuses on changes in refugee policies and practices. More targeted regional and/or displacement situation specific research on GCR implementation would be worthwhile, with the role of both countries of origin and hosting countries analysed from a solutions agenda.

While the focus of the research was on governments, humanitarian and development partners - as well as broader civil society at the global, regional, and country level - were engaged to get their perspectives on research questions. The research did not include engagement with local civil society actors and refugee and host communities themselves, given the target of governments. Their perspectives and important voice, particularly when discussing the impact of changes in refugee policy and practice, should be included in follow-up regional and country research on GCR implementation.



Bogota, Colombia - IRC

III. Has the Global Compact on Refugees become truly global in its application?

The logic underlying the GCR is both simple and appealing: By enhancing international cooperation with a view of "a more equitable sharing of the burden and responsibility for hosting and supporting the world's refugees"¹¹, the international community can support the countries and communities hosting large numbers of them (most notably in the Global South) in a manner that also expands the protection space and advances the search for solutions.¹²

As a non-binding international framework, equal application and influencing of the GCR across host countries cannot be assumed. Such requires a deep knowledge and understanding of the GCR by relevant authorities and buy-in from humanitarian and development partners to use the GCR as a tool to engage with governments and donors. While Uganda was an early implementer of the CRRF approaches and has embraced the GCR as a tool to call for more equitable responsibility sharing, the two other host countries researched for this report have not made as much progress in terms of GCR application.

Colombia and the Venezuelan forced displacement crisis

The displacement of Venezuelans represents the largest exodus in the recent history of Latin America, starting in 2015 but increasing significantly in scale and complexity since the GCR was affirmed in 2018. In August 2021, the UN estimated that there were 5.7 million Venezuelan refugees and migrants worldwide, of which 4.6 million lived in the region alone.¹³

Are displaced Venezuelans considered refugees?

UNHCR uses the phrase "Venezuelans displaced abroad" to refer to this particular population, stating that it applies "to persons of Venezuelan origin who are likely to be in need of international protection under the criteria contained in the Cartagena Declaration, but who have not applied for asylum in the country in which they are present. Regardless of status, Venezuelans displaced abroad require protection against forced returns, and access to basic services" 14.

UNHCR noted in its latest 'Guidance Note on International Protection Considerations for Venezuelans' that "for a number of profiles, international protection considerations are likely to arise under the 1951 Refugee Convention/1967 Protocol and further considers that the majority of Venezuelan nationals are in need of international protection under the criteria contained in the Cartagena Declaration" due to events in Venezuela.

The 1984 Cartagena Declaration on Refugees, adopted by the Colloquium on the International Protection of Refugees in Central America, Mexico, and Panama, offers an expanded refugee definition, which includes "refugees persons who have fled their country because their lives, safety or freedom have been threatened by generalised violence, foreign aggression, internal conflicts, massive violation of human rights or other circumstances which have seriously disturbed public order" 16.

Colombia is the largest host country among Venezuela's neighbours, hosting 1.72 million displaced Venezuelans, and the second largest host country in the world behind Turkey.¹⁷ The Government of Colombia has framed its approach to displaced Venezuelans as one of solidarity given the history of displacement of Colombians to Venezuela (Venezuela currently hosts 845,000 Colombian and binational returnees¹⁸). It is also seen as a pragmatic approach given the sheer scale of displacement and irregular movement into the country.

Colombia has made significant progress in recognising displaced Venezuelans as in need of international protection, assistance, and access to services, particularly given its being a country with limited experience as a host and one that is still grappling with significant internal displacement. ¹⁹ However, it refers to Venezuelans as "migrants," and interviewees noted that to date

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

authorities have not taken significant steps to boost their asylum capacity and refugee status determination (RSD) procedures with just over 770 Venezuelans in Colombia registered as refugees and 20,000 as asylum seekers, according to UNHCR statistics.²⁰

This could be one reason why in interviews carried out for this research, the GCR was not mentioned as having informed the framing of the current response. Instead, UNHCR and International Organization for Migration (IOM) are working together with authorities and humanitarian partners to support Colombia, prioritising interventions to address humanitarian needs, barriers to integration, and reduce protection risks.²¹ "Good practice" submitted in relation to the GCR included bridging the humanitarian and development divide through the provision of direct emergency assistance, while in parallel working toward increasing refugees' labour market access and self-reliance.²²

On the one hand the need for the GCR to dialogue with regions' contexts and existing systems to build on them and tailor actions, and, on the other hand, the role the GCR can play in aiding the improvement of refugee protection, i.e., showing that a bidirectional pathway is needed for enhancing refugee protection from the GCR, by assessing how existing regimes can assist it, but also how it can benefit from existing structures.²³

Given the framing by Venezuela itself, as well as Colombia and other countries proximal to Venezuelan displacement in migration management terms, it would also be interesting to explore further how the GCR and the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly, and Regular Migration could intersect and work together to ensure better protection, responses, and solutions, given their common focus on the need for more predictable and comprehensive responses.

Bangladesh and the plight of the Rohingya

The Rohingya situation in Bangladesh is another example of the kind of displacement context for which the GCR was designed - that is, "large-scale refugee movement" into a lower- to middle-income country "facing [its] own economic and development challenges". When violence in Myanmar in the summer of 2017 forced more than 740,000 Rohingya to flee, Bangladesh, in line with future GCR principles, "[went] to great lengths to scale up arrangements to receive them" and committed in writing to respect "the cardinal principle of non-refoulement". Length of Bangladesh supported the development of the GCR, voted for, and welcomed its affirmation, interviews and desk research

conducted for this report indicated that the Compact is not being fully applied in response to Rohingya displacement in Bangladesh²⁹

Sheikh Hasina, Prime Minister of Bangladesh, September 2018³⁰

The Compact on Refugees has been adopted at a time when the world is faced with swelling refugee crises. Innocent people from various conflict-torn countries are leaving their homes for safety and security while many countries like Bangladesh are giving them shelter, protection, and hope. Most of these refugee-hosting countries are developing countries with their own set of challenges. Yet they respond to the call of humanity. The world must recognize their contribution and help those countries shoulder the burden. The world leaders must come forward with political will and commitment.

The challenges begin with the fact that Bangladesh – as a non-signatory to the 1951 Refugee Convention and its 1967 Protocol – does not recognize the Rohingya as refugees, and instead refers to them as "Forcibly Displaced Myanmar Nationals". The GCR also appears to have little ground for application presently in Bangladesh because of a lack of a conducive political environment, particularly in relation to the enhancement of refugee self-reliance (GCR Objective II).

Instead, the Government of Bangladesh has emphasised that its priority is the fourth GCR objective, namely the establishment of conditions in countries of origin that would enable the return of refugees in safety and dignity. As the Prime Minister recently told the UN, the government's "topmost priority is to ensure sustainable repatriation, and we must invest all our efforts towards that end".³¹

As a result, the Government repeatedly emphasises the humanitarian but fundamentally temporary nature of their receiving Rohingya refugees. To this end, policies and programmes seeking to provide or promote education, livelihood opportunities, and/or integration of the Rohingya refugees into the host community in Cox's Bazar are limited, as is the construction of permanent or semi-permanent structures.32 The shrinking humanitarian space has limited responses that can sustainably support refugees. A particular source of tension with humanitarian actors is the Government's plan - which is already well under way - to relocate 100,000 Rohingya refugees to the previously uninhabited island of Bhasan Char, which many fear has insufficient facilities and protection against storms and flooding. Some 18,500 refugees are already on the island, having been relocated by the Government in late 2020 and early 2021.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Interviews revealed that because of this positioning, other actors involved in the response - including UNHCR, other UN entities, donor representatives, and civil society organisations - rarely (if ever) use the GCR as a framework for their activities or advocacy in their response to Rohingya refugees in Bangladesh. The current Joint Response Plan for the Rohingya situation, for example, makes no mention of the Compact,33-and there is little discussion of the GCR within humanitarian coordination fora. The current lack of effective incentives (financial and political) is widely acknowledged as impacting engagement with the Government of Bangladesh and pursuing a strategy that would encourage "the achievement of [the GCR] objectives on equal footing"34 for the Rohingya response. More broadly a lack of responsibility-sharing for the Rohingya crisis and regional perspective, for example, among the Association for Southeast Asian States (ASEAN) is exacerbating the challenge around how the GCR could support easing the responsibility on Bangladesh as a host country.

Despite this, several organisations have made some progress in advancing a Compact-like agenda by linking Rohingya self-reliance to the sustainability of return. once conditions in Myanmar allow it. Considerable headway was made, for example, in ensuring access to formal education in January 2020 when – following coordinated advocacy by states, the UN, and civil society – the Government of Bangladesh granted permission for teaching in accordance with the curriculum of Myanmar.³⁵

Among donor states the GCR is often perceived as foreign policy related rather than also a domestic responsibility

As with most international policy processes, state engagement with the development of the GCR was largely led by ministries of foreign affairs and in some donor states, by international development agencies. The GCR, however, touches upon the work of a wide range of government departments and agencies, and research conducted for this report revealed the extent to which the job of mainstreaming the GCR across all relevant government departments requires further attention.

Gillian Triggs, UNHCR Assistant High Commissioner for Protection³⁶

When [the Global Compact on Refugees] speaks of the international community's 'solidarity with refugees', this is in no way limited to refugees who form part of large refugee situations, or who are hosted in low- or middle-income countries. Whilst it is true that developed States are encouraged to support the quality of protection in the developing world, there are many provisions of the Compact that apply equally within their own borders... Indeed, there is no better way for States to demonstrate commitment to the principles of the Global Compact than to implement them domestically.

Many have argued that the paradigm shift that has emerged in terms of refugee policies, as encapsulated in the GCR, was the result of political priorities arising from the so-called refugee and migrant crisis in Europe from 2015 onward.³⁷ This research has found that migration management continues to be a driving framing for many key refugee donors in terms of funding priorities, recipient countries, and their engagement with host country governments, particularly regarding development cooperation strategies. The last few years have seen a hardening of rhetoric, policies, and political positions, as well as a weakening of the asylum space for some countries domestically.

The EU has seen the development of the Migration and Asylum Pact published in September 2020, which aims to establish a predictable EU-wide mechanism to deal with migration and responsibility sharing. The new Pact is a combination of multiple migration policy initiatives and partnership agreements launched by the EU over the past few years, which were developed in a context of strong rhetoric around unmanageable movements and unprecedented crises. While some aspects of the Pact are welcomed in terms of a more common, predictable, and reliable migration mechanism, NRC has pointed to concerns that the Pact gives insufficient guarantees that the rights and dignities of people on the move are respected and protected, with its focus on efficient and fast asylum procedures (and swift return procedures as appropriate).38 There is also concern with its emphasis on reinforced border and migration management and promotion of returns as the preferred durable solution, while the Pact mainly focuses on the deterrence of migration.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Global Asylum Governance and the European Union's Role (ASILE) Project, June 2021³⁹

The EU is a crucial actor in this regard, not only because its Member States host many asylum seekers and refugees, but also because its asylum policies are widely emulated internationally and can thus be expected to have a global impact. Moreover, the EU plays a key role in international processes that seek to leverage better protection for refugees in the main host states outside the EU.

The EU played a key role in the negotiation and affirmation of the GCR in 2018 and is supporting its implementation not just in terms of financing but also process, including within various GCR linked Regional Support Platforms. Yet it seems that the GCR is often perceived as a foreign policy engagement tool rather than part of a country's domestic responsibilities. As one interviewee said, "How can we be constructive abroad while obstructive at home?". The actions taken by some UN member states undermining international refugee protection also erode confidence in the GCR more broadly and reinforce previous critiques that the 'responsibility-sharing' at the heart of the GCR and its approach to 'easing pressure' on countries that welcome and host refugees "largely comes down to a simple bargain between refugee hosting states and donor countries: 'You host, we fund'".40



Jan Grarup / DRC

Denmark's externalisation policy

Denmark has long been considered a 'good' refugee donor with its deeply embedded approach to the humanitarian-development nexus and its strong focus on durable solutions, illustrated by its many pledges at the first GRF in December 2019.⁴¹ In its most recent development cooperation strategy, 'The World We Share: Climate, Fragility, Human Rights at the Forefront', Denmark committed to prevent and fight poverty and inequality, conflict, and displacement.⁴²

It remains one of the largest refugee donors to UNHCR, providing unearmarked funds and working with Danish civil society, among others, to support GCR implementation in many contexts. While Denmark remains a committed GCR donor, it is also actively pursuing a policy of externalisation of asylum procedures.

During its GRF pledge, Denmark committed to "substantial initiatives in support of better solutions, for vulnerable refugees, for women and girls, and for the young generation that are agents of change for a better future"⁴³. However, it also pledged to "strengthen asylum capacity along migratory routes and in regions of origin" and challenged the need to "consider alternative solutions such as reception centres and asylum capacity along routes"⁴⁴. Since that time, Denmark has actively worked toward an externalisation of its asylum procedures, justifying the response in terms of the need for a more fair and humane approach to asylum that protects people from traffickers.

In June 2021, the Danish Parliament passed a bill that opens the possibility to transfer asylum seekers and refugees to a third country, although its exact implementation remains unclear. DRC has noted, "It is also still very unclear how a possible reception center in a third country would be administered, in light of including Denmark's legal responsibility for safeguarding the rights of asylum seekers and refugees and ensuring their protection. It has also been one of our main concerns regarding the bill, which has now unfortunately been passed without adequate consideration".⁴⁵

IV. Has the GCR led to more funding for refugees and host communities and the right type of financing for host countries?

The GCR objectives of easing pressure on host countries and enhancing refugees' self-reliance requires more - not less - funding in the short and medium term when a combination of humanitarian, catalytic, transitional, and development financing is required. For host countries it requires financing not just to be predictable and of scale, but also the right type to incentivise CRRF approaches in terms of promoting inclusion and protection and supporting reforms in the medium to longer term through sustained financial engagement.

Yet, the GCR does not contain a concrete mechanism to ensure additional or more predictable development funding, relying instead on voluntary contributions and processes like the GRF to secure concrete pledges and contributions toward the objectives of the Compact. Earlier text proposing more ambitious mechanisms to ensure states' responsibility-sharing was removed during the drafting process.⁴⁷

It is unclear if the GCR has supported increased and more predictable funding for refugees, host communities, and host countries

Answering the question of whether there is now more funding for refugees, host communities, and host countries is extremely difficult and a central focus of the forthcoming first GCR Indicator Report under Outcome 1.48

Mostly financed through humanitarian funding streams, refugee responses remain chronically underfunded. For example, in 2020 UNHCR reported its own budget needs as a gap of more than USD \$9.13 billion to respond to the populations it serves, yet the agency only received 58 percent of these funds by the end of the year.⁴⁹ UNHCR noted that this trend has continued in 2021, having received, for example, by August, only 33 percent of necessary funding for its COVID-19 emergency response.⁵⁰

In terms of broader refugee response plans developed by UNHCR with other UN agencies, civil society, and governments, response plans remain similarly underfunded in 2021 and span both protracted and emergency crises. Across the three selected host countries, funding against these plans remains bleak, with Bangladesh having received 34 percent of necessary funding, ⁵¹-Uganda 36 percent ⁵² and Colombia 44 percent, ⁵³ as of the latest available reporting.

Another reason for caution is global Overseas Development Assistance (ODA), which comprises financing flows to countries on the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) list of ODA recipients and multilateral development institutions. OECD's preliminary findings for 2020 indicated that ODA rose by 3.5 percent in real terms compared to 2019 to an all-time high⁵⁴ (complete reporting and preliminary findings for 2021 are not yet available). ODA levels had previously decreased by 1.2 percent between 2018 and 2019.⁵⁵

Overall, ODA figures encompass more than financing to refugees and host countries, and therefore make it impossible to determine whether funding has increased, stagnated, or even worsened for refugee situations. A previous survey conducted by OECD between 2015 and 2017 indicated that donors are using - and will continue to use - ODA to support the world's refugees56 with the proportion of ODA estimated to involve refugees steadily increasing from 1% to 4% over the last decade⁵⁷. There has also been for some time concern that ODA figures for refugee responses are not always indicative of the real value of overseas support with "in-donor refugee costs" counted as part of individual countries ODA support to refugees (despite 2017 OECD guidance that clarified and limited costs which could be counted in terms of when ODA can be spent domestically to support refugee arrivals⁵⁸).

At the first GRF in December 2019, 250 of the 1,400 pledges and commitments made included financial commitments.⁵⁹ However, it is difficult to say whether of the USD \$2 billion announced by states and other international actors, what proportion comprised new and additional funding sources or already existing commitments.⁶⁰

In interviews with key refugee donors of the US, EU, Germany, and Denmark, none mentioned the likelihood of additional funding for refugee responses in the near future, but highlighted a focus on ensuring that their current commitments in humanitarian funding and development cooperation are sustained in the coming years.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Uganda's lack of predictable funding

Uganda's progressive refugee policies have long been applauded, including its approach to safeguarding refugees' right to work and freedom of movement, despite hosting a large number of refugees for considerable periods of time; it is currently the largest host country in Africa.⁶¹ This is also despite the OECD's classification of Uganda as a low-income and least developed host country.⁶²

A fundamental challenge remains levels of funding against Uganda's ambitious integrated sector response plans developed under its comprehensive CRRF approach. The Government of Uganda continues to raise serious concerns that the funding is not of the scale and predictability required to allow them to both plan for and implement a response, such as the inclusion of refugees into national health systems.

OECD found that between 2015 and 2017, USD \$777 million was allocated to refugee and host community programs, but between 81 to 87 percent was spent on short-term project-style interventions. ⁶³ Early 2019 research suggested that the extension of sector response plans does not appear to have fundamentally altered the funding picture in terms of new financing, with the focus still on humanitarian funding and its often one-year funding cycles. ⁶⁴

Another significant problem identified across all interviews on Uganda was whether responses were "on or off plan," i.e., whether funding was responding to government-identified priorities, as well as the lack of effective aid tracking, particularly on development cooperation, to be able to track levels of refugee response funding that flowing into the country and for which outcomes.

The question of "on or off budget," i.e., whether funds were being provided directly to the government or through partners, was also frequently identified as a key source of tension. This goes to the heart of the GCR approach and a fundamental challenge around the ability of financing to incentivise coherent CRRF responses in host countries. As noted by the Regional Durable Solutions Secretariat (ReDSS) in recent research on displacement financing architecture in the Horn of Africa region more broadly, "Financing for solutions to displacement still flows largely outside of government financial systems. This limits scope to building financing packages and agreements calibrated to incentivise and support government-led solutions". Despite challenges and obstacles, multilateral development banks like the WBG and development partners with experience implementing large grants with governments have considerable tools to support direct budget support implementation models, if the political will exists from the international community to find a way forward while appropriately managing the risks.

Colombia's responsibility-sharing

Another hallmark of Colombia's response is its chronic underfunding and its description as one of the most neglected crises in the world. As of October 2021, the Colombia Refugee and Migrant Response Plan (RMRP) is 44 percent funded with some USD \$279 million out of the requested USD \$641 million received. Find 2019 and 2020 plans were similarly underfunded with just 52 and 42 percent of funds received respectively. While a breakdown is not available at the country level, at the regional level the US government is by far the largest donor, providing USD \$408 million (or 81 percent of funding received to date in 2021). Other reported funding received per R4V tracking from smaller donors includes Sweden (USD \$12 million), EU Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection Department (ECHO at USD \$11 million), Germany (USD \$5 million) and Canada (USD \$4 million).

However, at the International Donors' Conference in Solidarity with Venezuelan Refugees and Migrants in June 2021, international donors pledged a total of USD \$1.5 billion in regional funding, including USD \$954 million in grants and USD \$600 million in loans toward the regional response. End-of-year funding updates will provide a better snapshot as to how much of the pledges entailed new funding and whether more international donors are now responding at scale. Importantly, there appears to be growing engagement from the WBG and Inter-American Bank in supporting regional engagement and development approaches to forced displacement.

The Brookings Institute has shown the situation more bluntly in terms of both a critical lack of funding for the response plans and scale of the response in comparison to Syrian refugees (given the similarity in displacement figures and trends over time). They note that for Syrians at the end of 2020 there has been USD \$20.8 billion of funding since the beginning of the crisis, compared to USD \$1.4 billion for Venezuelans. At the end of 2020, total funding per refugee amounted to USD \$3,150 per Syrian compared to USD \$265 per Venezuelan. They note that even if the Regional Refugee and Migrant Response Plan (RMRP) was fully funded this year, the total amount of funding for the Venezuelan crisis would reach USD \$3 billion, translating to USD \$600 per person.

Given the absence of sufficient funding, Colombian authorities must find the resources putting financial strains on local and state governments that are already struggling to support vulnerable Colombians, given compounding impacts of COVID-19 resulting in a parallel socio-economic crisis. It also leads to further movement of people within and between hosting states in the region as they seek better assistance and services to meet their basic needs.

The need for development approaches and for medium to long-term development financing is more widely recognised

While it is difficult to determine whether the GCR itself has led to more funding for refugees and host communities, the need for engagement of development actors in forced displacement contexts is now widely recognised, and the four donors researched are engaging on forced displacement, both in terms of humanitarian and development financing approaches.

The humanitarian-development-peace nexus is not new, but the framing of the GCR with this language has spurred increased engagement of development financing partners, including the WBG, in refugee settings. In this regard, Denmark stands out as a donor due to its commitment to development approaches in forced displacement contexts and significant GRF pledges toward the solutions agenda. Its new strategy for development cooperation, "The World We Share: Denmark's strategy for development cooperation," outlines its commitment to addressing forced displacement through a development lens.⁷¹

The adoption of the OECD's 2019 DAC Recommendation on the Humanitarian-Development-Peace Nexus⁷² in developing countries and the International Network on Conflict and Fragility (INCAF) Common Position, on supporting comprehensive responses in refugee situations,⁷³ in 2019 furthered this trend toward the adoption of nexus approaches.

While on the one hand the development financing agenda for some donors has been squarely framed in migration management terms, on the other hand GCR stakeholders must acknowledge the much-needed engagement of development financing partners in some refugee response and host countries, and the many new financing windows, instruments, and partnerships.74 This is a huge step forward from when responses to displacement were overwhelmingly financed from humanitarian funding budgets on an ad-hoc and short-term basis in 2017 (72 percent of all funding was humanitarian funding, and 50 percent was over a period of one year or less).75 The OECD will be releasing its updated report on funding for refugee responses in December 2021, shedding light on any shifts in the percentage of refugee responses funded by humanitarian versus development financing.

World Bank IDA funding

Since 2016, the WBG has engaged more in forced displacement contexts. The International Development Association (IDA) – the World Bank's fund for the poorest countries – IDA18 replenishment (2017 to 2020) introduced a new 'Regional Sub-Window for Refugees and Host Communities' (RSW) and dispersed some additional USD \$1.85 billion across 14 host countries in Africa (60 percent of total IDA18 RSW funds), South Asia (39 percent) and the Middle East North Africa region (1 percent).⁷⁶ It was dedicated to helping low-income countries hosting large numbers of refugees and supported the WBG in tripling its resources to refugees and host communities during these four years.⁷⁷

At the first GRF, the Bank confirmed an additional USD \$2.2 billion under IDA19 (2021 to 2024) and the renamed 'Window for Host Communities and Refugees' (WHR). This funding is similarly dedicated to countries that host refugee populations. It now includes a dedicated sub-window of USD \$1 billion for operations that respond to the impacts of COVID-19. In addition, the WBG committed a separate USD \$2.5 billion to boost the private sector and create jobs in countries affected by fragility, conflict, and violence, including refugee-hosting countries. It has also invested in the GCR process and its partnership with UNHCR, such as through the Joint WB-UNHCR Center (JDC) for Forced Displacement.

The WBG aims to use its support to build inclusive systems to address the needs of both refugees and host communities and to help host countries incorporate long-term development strategies and 'whole-of-government' approaches into refugee support programs.

In IDA18 the Bank noted:

The sub-window underpins the development approach to forced displacement, supporting commitments by host governments to enact policy change and address the social and economic dimensions of refugee situations. Funds are provided on more favorable terms for mediumterm investments that benefit both refugees and host communities.⁷⁹

While in IDA19 the framing was amended to:

The WHR is neutral as to sector and instrument – it supports all kinds of operations in eligible countries that create meaningful longer-term development opportunities for refugees and hosts. A key element of creating these development opportunities involves improving the policy and institutional environment for refugees in the host country, so all projects are expected to demonstrate policy content.⁵⁰

The revised language for the current IDA approach could, in part, be reflective of learnings by the WBG on the need to be clearer on the outlook for its engagement, i.e., in the medium to long-term, and that while substantive additional financing can support a more enabling policy environment, this requires sustained political and financing engagement, given political sensitivities, as well as concerted multi-stakeholder and calibrated engagement from all partners.

The WBG has committed that by the IDA19 mid-term review (2022), IDA will conduct a systematic review of refugee policy and institutional environments in countries eligible for the WHR.⁸¹

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

With the now widely recognised need for a development-oriented approach, calls for development actors to engage must move toward calls to hold them accountable for their role in long-term financing to address the protracted nature of forced displacement situations. While it may be difficult to measure impact, the focus should be on sharing learnings, recognising the need for principled and flexible approaches, coordinating with other actors, and influencing those who are not there yet.

This includes learning from where developmental approaches do not offer the same incentives for better practice as in other refugee hosting situations. In Bangladesh, for example, there is scepticism around nexus approaches and concern that the increasing involvement of development actors in the Rohingya response would signal and/or facilitate a longer-term stay in Bangladesh for the Rohingya. Despite research outlining areas in which development programming could build resilience among Rohingya refugees and the low-income host communities in Cox's Bazar,82 such approaches have, to date, had little traction with the national government. Development partners need to continue to engage constructively with refugee-hosting governments to consider how best to engage and calibrate their responses to the specific host country situation.

The GCR/CRRF approach is providing a useful basis for discussion of the implementation of nexus approaches

Interviewees from all four focus donors indicated that in refugee situations, they are applying the 'nexus approach' using their humanitarian funding, development funding, and sometimes additional stabilisation (peacebuilding) financing. Officials interviewed mentioned that while conceptually the GCR is now part of their overall strategies toward forced displacement, further work is needed to ensure harmonisation and synchronisation of approaches leading to broader impact and more predictable support to refugees, host countries, and host communities.

Barriers include: (1) the division of roles and mandates across different donor agencies between humanitarian and development portfolios⁸³; (2) different funding sources and in some cases internal earmarking that makes development cooperation less flexible and more politicised including around framing in migration management terms; (3) lack of alignment of timeframes and planning between shorter humanitarian funding cycles (often one year) and longer-term development

cooperation (between four to seven years for the four donor countries interviewed); and (4) institutional changes necessary to fully embrace the nexus approach through stronger internal coordination architecture, shared strategic frameworks and policies, and in some cases, changed mindsets around roles and responsibilities.

The US's trial with nexus approaches in refugee settings

In the US, institutional structures that have been in place for decades have struggled to bridge the humanitarian-development divide. The Bureau of Population, Refugees, and Migration (PRM) within the State Department, for example, is the overall lead on refugees within the US government and understands refugee protection. However, its leverage to incentivise protection globally though considerable - is limited by the fact that the bureau focuses on humanitarian assistance and funding predominantly to intergovernmental organisations, including the UN and to a lesser extent NGOs. USAID, on the other hand, may be in a better position to use its development cooperation investments to support longer-term approaches to refugees and host communities including incentivising policies supporting refugee protection in host countries, but further work is needed to better define this role and ensure coordination between the two agencies. Other constraints, including funding limitations imposed by Congress for USAID, which earmarks funds by themes, regions, countries, and different planning horizons, further complicate the picture. An interagency Relief-Development Coherence Working Group has made some progress in promoting a coherent approach, but an institutional approach to development cooperation in forced displacement contexts was described as 'a work in progress' that would require more buy-in from senior management. The GCR was described, however, as giving a strong impetus and framework for such discussions into the future building on the progress made at country level in terms of increased coordination across different US government agencies for refugee responses.

Germany also struggles with similar institutional structures across the Federal Foreign Office (GFFO), with its humanitarian assistance portfolio focussed on emergency assistance (shelter, food, and basic needs) and healthcare, and the Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), which focuses on economic development. Interviewees noted that Denmark, despites its long-standing promotion of nexus approaches in forced displacement contexts, is still trying to see how to support more flexibility in development cooperation to ensure that it can calibrate its four-year country level strategies to changes in the – refugee-hosting environment.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Next steps for EU development cooperation

Framed by the Syrian crisis in terms of migration management, the European Commission (EC) was an early advocate of the need for development-oriented approaches to forced displacement. Its 2016 communication, 'Lives in Dignity from Aid-dependence to Self-reliance', called for a new approach to prevent refugees from having to rely on humanitarian assistance and promoted ways to help them become more self-reliant in countries where they reside.⁸⁴ The EC brought this approach to their engagement with the development of the GCR.

Since 2018, the EU appears to have gone further than other donors researched in trying to build cross-institutional structures to implement a nexus approach to forced displacement through coherent inter-directorate working groups, common reporting frameworks on GRF pledges, and explicit directives to EU delegations at the field level of how to program using CRRF approaches.

One of the key vehicles to promote a nexus approach was the use of different trust funds, including the European Union Emergency Trust Fund (EUTF) to address the root causes of irregular migration and displacement in Africa. Set to close in 2021, the EUTF has funded over 500 projects in more than 25 countries with a total of EUR 4.8 billion committed since 2016.⁸⁵ The EUTF has been controversial due to its upfront focus on migration management, though more nuanced in terms of implementation with a large share of funding going more broadly to resilience and solutions programming for displaced populations. While the EU regularly published regular from the EUTF, interviewees noted that the fund needed more than five years to adequately test how a well-resourced and dedicated forced displacement development funding stream could support 'easing the burden' on host countries and promoting refugee self-reliance and inclusion.

Instead, in March 2021 the EU adopted a single unified instrument for development cooperation – the Neighbourhood, Development, and International Cooperation Instrument (NDICI) or "Global Europe". Operating on a seven-year planning cycle the current 2021 to 2027 multiannual financial framework (MFF) has EUR 79.46 billion for cooperation with third countries. Analysis by European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM) suggested that the proportion of the budget dedicated to development assistance had slightly increased by 3 percent, compared to previous 2014 to 2020 budgets (excluding an EUTF funding).

Migration is one of the five themes for the NDICI with significant advocacy reportedly needed to ensure that in relevant documents this was broadened and framed in both migration and forced displacement language. There is a global spending target of 10 percent of funds dedicated to migration (forced displacement) and a flexibility cushion for emerging challenges and priorities. But as of October 2021, the Multi-Annual Indicative Plans (MIPS) - the main EU country-level strategies for 2021 to 2027 - have not been approved, and thus it is difficult to predict whether the new "mainstreaming" approach of migration ad forced displacement within the EU's broader development cooperation at the country and regional levels will result in the same levels of development financing for refugees and host communities. What is known is that without the dedicated funding streams, more focus on ensuring coordinated approaches between humanitarian and development and across regional responses will be needed.

A Germany-specific development funding stream for forced displacement

The OECD noted in 2020 that most countries address forced displacement through their pre-existing humanitarian and development programs with two notable exceptions: Germany and the Netherlands.⁸⁸

In 2014 Germany introduced the Special Initiative 'Tacking the Root Causes of Displacement, (Re)integrating Refugees' (often referred to as the Special Initiative on Forced Displacement) as their main development cooperation instrument targeting forced displacement. It complements BMZ's traditional approach to bilateral development cooperation through its ability to "deliver a rapid and targeted response to displacement situations, providing support to displaced populations and host countries or communities"⁸⁹. It is focused on providing financial and technical support to: (1) assisting refugees, internally displaced persons, and returnees; (2) stabilising host regions; and (3) tackling the triggers of displacement.⁹⁰. The initiative has evolved over time, adding a more explicit reference than many donors to supporting local integration initiatives, building the resilience of host communities, and providing a better enabling environment for refugees. The Special Initiative has its own budget line, and since its inception has provided some EUR 2.4 billion⁹¹ through 245 projects in 65 countries reaching 11.3 million people.⁹²

According to interviewees, the introduction of the Special Initiative has allowed development approaches to forced displacement to become more visible and attract additional resources to Germany's support to host countries beyond existing bilateral funding budgets. The addition of the funding has been important in discussions with host countries who recognise that the funding does not take away from bilateral development cooperation.

The lifespan of the Special Initiative on Forced Displacement is not known following recent German elections, with officials noting a goal is to move forward with a "mainstreaming" approach to forced displacement within its broader development cooperation approach while still ensuring that the specific needs of refugees are met.

V. Has the GCR supported better protection, inclusion, and solutions for refugees?

The GCR objectives of enhancing self-reliance and promoting the inclusion of refugees into national systems, while expanding access to third country solutions, set out an ambitious framework for changes in refugee policies and practices to better protect and support refugees. It requires the mobilisation of significant and sustained political will.

Three years on, there is still much work to meet these objectives of the GCR. This section presents examples of best practice, persisting barriers, and opportunities, with a snapshot of key findings.

Most changes in refugee policy and practice in the last three years are linked to local solutions

For some host countries, implementing a GCR approach requires a significant shift in policies and practices to see refugees not as a burden and acknowledge their economic potential. And there has been some promising momentum around such shifts in approaches by many host countries, building on the groundwork laid by CRRF pilots in 15 country and regional approaches.

At the 2019 GRF, host countries made over 280 pledges, with many focused on national inclusion through revised legal and policy frameworks in line with the GCR. While political, technical, and financial challenges remain in implementation of these commitments, host countries must provide the framework for concerted efforts of the international community to support their implementation and allow concrete progress to be showcased at the next GRF in 2023. This includes building on examples of what is working in different contexts and the chance for more cross-country and regional learning.

Colombia's protection response to Venezuelans displaced abroad

In early 2021, 56 percent of the 1.72 million Venezuelans displaced in Colombia remained in an irregular situation. Without status they are more vulnerable to exploitation and violence and face barriers to socio-economic integration within the country. OECD noted that the policy environment in Colombia affects the cost of the refugee response as well as refugees' ability to earn income. In the case of undocumented Venezuelans, they both cannot work formally and can only access emergency healthcare, driving up costs through care as emergency responses are more expensive.

In February 2021, the Government of Colombia announced it would grant Temporary Protection Status (TPS) to the Venezuelan population in the country including those who currently had irregular status who had arrived before 31 January 2021. This builds on previous commitments of the Government to support their regularisation, including three rounds of renewal of the Special Stay Permit (PEP) and the implementation of two additional rounds, including the Special Permit to Stay for the Promotion of Formalization (PEP-FF). 95

UNHCR's High Commissioner described it as "the most important humanitarian gestures made on this continent since 1984, when the Cartagena Declaration was signed" Despite the temporal nature and outside of some key guarantees akin to refugee status such as protection from non-refoulement and recognition of a durable solution as the end of refugee status, regularisation will support Venezuelans to access their rights and essential services including health, education, housing, bank accounts and the formal labour market. The approach of the Government of Colombia is reportedly led by the President himself and has wide support across the political spectrum, which is important given the upcoming elections.

The challenge remains in implementation and the need for strengthening the 'whole of government' approach to ensure both a smooth roll-out of the decree, but also that it translates in practice in terms of displaced persons' ability to access basic rights and services such as education and health care. Previous regularisation efforts have still left many Venezuelans without legal status. Sustained international support is also needed to bolster Colombia's social protection system hit by the COVID-19 pandemic and ensure that it can deal with influx of new students and new patients, for example.

More focus and support on the 'how' of implementing GCR/CRRF approaches is therefore needed

There is also a need to focus more on the 'how' of GCR implementation based on learnings from CRRF pilots in 15 countries and regional situations in 2017 to 2018. A starting point is strengthened knowledge and understanding of the role of national and local authorities, as well as that of other local actors, in terms of GCR's framework but also of its benefits and opportunities.

Better analysis around 'how' also requires a more nuanced collective political economy analysis of the sensitivities of refugees in specific host countries and different interest groups that stand to gain or lose from changes in refugee responses. 97 It requires more cohesive multi-stakeholder engagement and commitment from humanitarian and development partners, including operational agencies and donors, to plan together and engage coherently with host countries based on a shared understanding of who may be best placed to lead on political dialogue, technical assistance, and financing to help shift incentives toward creating enabling legal and policy environments.

The responsibility for supporting CRRF engagement and articulating approaches in host countries goes beyond UNHCR. Their leadership is essential to creating visibility and shepherding the process, but all relevant UN agencies and humanitarian and development partners must be held accountable to engaging and supporting the CRRF.



Bidi Bidi Refugee Settlement, Uganda - Esther Mbabazi

Key learnings from Uganda's CRRF approach

Uganda, given its progressive refugee policies for some time, was an early implementer of the CRRF approach, and with time has put in place considerable architecture to implement it through a CRRF Secretariat and Steering Group model and a focus on 'whole-of-government approaches' supported financially and technically by UN agencies, NGOs, and donors. A key focus has been the inclusion of refugees into national development plans and the development of sector response plans across a wide array of key sectors from as early as 2018, with new plans still being developed and updated in 2021.

Despite political goodwill, implementing the CRRF in Uganda remains challenging, with key learnings that can be applied to the 'how' of implementing a CRRF approach. During interviews with government actors, humanitarian and development partners and international donors, all recognised the importance of the process of developing the sector response plans across governments and in coordination with relevant stakeholders. However, they noted implementation of the response plan model is challenging given: (1) the mismatch in terms of authorities' expectations of the level of funding that can be achieved against the high dollar values of the plans, impacting coordination and relations between key partners at the country level; (2) the expectation that the funding for the plans will go directly through government budgets, despite the continued dominance of humanitarian funding and, for some bilateral development donors, a continued wariness of directly funding the government due to concerns around transparency and accountability; and (3) despite the plans' 'business as usual' approach, some donors and partners may work not per the plans, but per their own priorities.

Another crucial challenge that threatens Ugandan's CRRF implementation is the dramatic impact of COVID-19 on both refugees and host communities, with the focus once again returning to humanitarian assistance and life-saving support for both refugees and vulnerable host communities and the challenge of maintaining a dual focus on short and longer-term responses within a significantly underfunded response.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

There are opportunities to use the GCR more broadly, including developing creative solutions

The research also revealed that while there has been a strong level of engagement among governments in relation to several of the key arrangements for responsibility-sharing established by the GCR – most notably the GRF and the three Support Platforms that have been established to support the response to displacement situations in Afghanistan, Central America, and the Horn of and East Africa⁹⁸ – a number of other 'arrangements' are yet to reach their potential.

The Asylum Capacity Support Group (ACSG), a special initiative of the GCR, works to facilitate asylum capacity support between states and other stakeholders. It was set up to ensure that states have measures in place for the timely identification of persons with international protection needs by matching states' requests for support with corresponding offers made by states and other stakeholders.99 Since 2019, it has made good progress in matching two asylum-strengthening pledges with support from donors (and a third match is under discussion), but the demand for assistance comfortably outstrips supply at present (more than 50 requests for assistance were made by 2019.100 Donor governments should consider favorable opportunities to support this mechanism, which promises to directly support the strengthening of asylum systems around the world.

Opportunities to further strengthen regional and sub-regional approaches for the GCR

'Regional and subregional approaches', provided for in the GCR, ¹⁰¹ also appear to have the potential to advance refugee protection and the search for solutions in the contexts of Bangladesh and Venezuela.

Bangladesh and regional responses

Several officials interviewed spoke with measured optimism about the potential to revive or reinvent some parts of the 'Solidarity Approach for the People of Rakhine State', a diplomatic initiative launched by UNHCR in 2018 that sought to bring together states and other actors from across the region and around the world to apply a Global-Compact-style response to the Rohingya situation. The Solidarity Approach sought to both support refugees and host communities in Bangladesh, focus on enabling conditions for sustainable voluntary repatriation while "inclusive development, resilience and livelihood opportunities for all of Rakhine State's communities is supported, in the region and globally"102. Given return is no longer likely in the short to medium term following the recent coup in Myanmar, and the displacement situation in Bangladesh will soon meet UNHCR's definition of a protracted refugee situation, multiple interviewees argued for further thinking on what might be achieved through a broadbased multi-stakeholder and diplomatic effort to support the Government of Bangladesh in hosting Rohingya refugees. They noted that while the Solidarity Approach was eventually rejected by the Government of Bangladesh (and Myanmar) that through more careful preparatory work (including through engaging civil society groups, think tanks and academics in Bangladesh) that some renewed opportunities may be worth pursuing through strategic and coordinated engagement by all actors.

Several interviewees also expressed hope at the possibility of a revived regional approach to the Rohingya situation and the need to focus on ensuring a regional perspective to their displacement. While to date they have not engaged on refugee responses, AESAN was seen as having an important brokering role to play, in regard to the conditions in Myanmar, a perspective shared by the Prime Minister of Bangladesh. 104

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Colombia and regional responses

There has been regional cooperation under the Quito process since 2018 when 13 countries met to exchange information on the situation in each country and, articulate a regional strategy to address the Venezuelan displacement crisis. Since the signing of the Quito Declaration on Human Mobility of Venezuelan Citizens in the Region in 2019, five additional technical and coordination meetings have taken place focused on processes such as the adoption of an Action Plan, thematic areas, and international and regional cooperation but the focus remains largely in terms of migration management.105 This is somewhat similar in process to the regional application of the GCR through the Comprehensive Regional Protection and Solutions Framework (MIRRPS) in Central America. 106

However, there are opportunities to deepen the engagement with and increase support to the Quito process in ways akin to the Regional Support Platforms rationale. For example, given the regional dynamics of Venezuelan displacement in Latin America, the Inter-Agency Coordination Platform for Refugees and Migrants from Venezuela (R4V) Regional Protection Sector is currently undertaking a review of various regularisation efforts in the region with a view to support harmonisation and regional engagement from host countries around the protection of Venezuelans displaced abroad. This would be a significant step given the dynamic nature of migration within the region. The body plans to use the Quito technical meetings to present its analysis and discuss ways of supporting harmonisation of regularisation efforts by governments in the region.



Colombia – DRC

Although COVID-19 has played a major role, there have been fewer third country solutions since the adoption of the GCR

One of the earliest and most visible impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the international refugee regime was the suspension of resettlement travel for refugees in March 2020.107 Although resettlement travel was resumed three months later, 108 the pandemic was a key factor in driving resettlement down to its lowest level in almost two decades in 2020.109 In a year when 'The Three-Year Strategy (2019 to 2021) on Resettlement and Complementary Pathways', developed under the auspices of the GCR, aimed to see 70,000 refugees resettled through UNHCR,110 just 22,770 resettlements occurred. This represents a dramatic fall from the 63,726 UNHCR-arranged resettlement departures in 2019, which met the target of 'The Three-Year Strategy.' Although more recent figures are not available, OECD-UNHCR joint research shows that the strategy's 2019 target for complementary pathways was also met: 156,000 arrivals against a target of 120,000.111

Despite the extremely challenging environment and continuing slow pace of resettlement (at the time of writing in mid-October, UNHCR was reporting 19,991 resettlement departures in 2021¹¹²), there is a projected upward trajectory. In the US, the Biden Administration has announced its intention to resettle up to 125,000 refugees in the fiscal year beginning 1 October 2021,¹¹³ a number that – if renewed each year – would single-handedly fulfil the targets of 'The Three-Year Strategy' through 2025.

But for resettlement to demonstrate responsibility-sharing, the numbers need to substantially increase and more states need to be involved.

For its part, UNHCR has used the challenging COVID context to advance initiatives that will build stronger foundations for action once travel becomes easier. To this end, it has launched a <u>Global Taskforce on Third Country Education Pathways</u> and a Global Family Reunification Network, with ongoing work on a global refugee laboyr mobility task force.¹¹⁴

The true trendline insofar as third country solutions are concerned will only become clear once international travel returns to some semblance of pre-pandemic levels and major events, such as the resettlement of Afghan refugees, are discounted as exceptions. Over the course of the last few years, a number of other countries have signalled their commitment to third country solutions as crucial tools for protection and solutions.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Efforts to engage more states in the international refugee protection regime require greater progress

A key objective of the GCR is to engage more states as active players in the international refugee protection regime, with the Compact noting that more equitable responsibility-sharing must involve "widening the support base beyond those countries that have historically contributed to the refugee cause through hosting refugees or other means". 115 There has been a considerable degree of interest - among diplomatic representatives of major donor states, in particular - in engaging those states that have not traditionally played an active role in the international refugee regime. Such states are sometimes referred to as the 'missing middle', though such phrasing risks being seen as pejorative by the governments it is seeking to persuade.

'Contributions' to the international refugee protection regime can take many forms, some of which are difficult - if not impossible - to quantify. A clear-yet-crude measure of progress in this regard is the number of states in UNHCR's so-called "\$20 million club" of donors who contribute at least that amount to UNHCR's activities each year; 19 states, plus the EU, qualified for membership based on contributions in 2018, when the GCR was affirmed, and 2019, when the first GRF took place, rising to 20+1 in 2020 with the addition of Ireland and Spain and the removal of Qatar.¹¹⁶

The total number of countries resettling refugees is another simple indicator of the breadth of contributions to the international refugee regime. Here, too, the data suggests that the breadth of the base of support is remaining constant, with UNHCR recording resettlement departures to 20 states in 2018, 2019, and 2020 and most of them more broadly involved in refugee responses as large donors already. Here

The role of evidence in supporting more equitable responsibility-sharing

Directly connected to the need for additional states to contribute to easing the pressure on host countries is an initiative identified in the GCR on "measuring the impact arising from hosting, protecting and assisting refugees with a view to assessing gaps in international cooperation and to promoting burden- and responsibility-sharing that is more equitable, predictable and sustainable".¹¹⁹

A series of workshops in 2019 were convened with state representatives and relevant international organisations, including the World Bank and the OECD¹²⁰, and a sector-specific analysis of 'The Global Cost of Inclusive Refugee Education' was published in February 2021 by the World Bank and UNHCR.¹²¹ The need for a phased and multi-year approach was recognised given the "participation and practicality in undertaking this complex task".¹²²

However, further progress in what could be an essential element in the effort toward enhanced responsibility-sharing has been limited by a lack of engagement from governments and the recognition of the need for significant technical support to continue this work. It is hoped that the forthcoming report against the GCR Indicator Framework will support this effort through its process of harmonising and standardising data collection standards.¹²³

These datapoints indicate then a need for a more concerted effort from those active players in the refugee regime—including donors, hosts, international organisations, and civil society—to broaden the base of support for comprehensive refugee response. A multi-stakeholder strategy to achieve this could focus on aligning incentives for deeper engagement, including linking refugee protection to other core state interests, ¹²⁴ and expanding visibility opportunities at global events such as the second GRF in 2023.

VI. Conclusion and recommendations

Conclusion

The findings of this research have provided a snapshot of analysis on implementation of the GCR by states. If there were a scorecard to give against progress three years on, the international community collectively would not pass. This report has shared key learnings in terms of how we can regain momentum and ensure better protection, inclusion, and solutions for refugees.

While there are some significant examples of changes in policies and practices, such as the cemented role of development partners in refugee responses and the real ambition of host countries to implement a GCR approach, there is still work to be done.

And this work is a collective responsibility. It requires what the GCR called for in 2018: "more equitable sharing of the burden and responsibility for hosting and supporting the world's refugees". 125

While the COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly impacted implementation, we must be able to move forward. Continued conflict, new and (re-)emerging crisis and the high numbers of refugees living in protracted displacement alongside host communities who have for too long shouldered the responsibility necessitates the changes envisaged in the GCR.

This requires the concerted effort of the international community – host countries, donors, and significant engagement from many states who are currently not doing their fair share both in terms of financing and resettlement. It also requires the concerted support of humanitarian and development partners including UNHCR and all relevant UN agencies, as well as NGOs like DRC, IRC, and NRC, who through this research recommit to playing their part in implementation in countries but also in their contribution to further policy development at the regional and national levels, to hold themselves but also states to account.

Afghanistan: Application of GCR in (re)-emerging crises

The period of research for this report coincided with renewed upheaval in Afghanistan, with US and allied forces withdrawing from the country, the Taliban sweeping to power more quickly than almost any observer predicted, and thousands seeking to flee the country. Although it was not clear at the time of writing whether these events would lead to a new mass displacement emergency, Afghanistan's position as one of the major countries of origin for the forcibly displaced over the past four decades meant that the possibility of large-scale displacement was at the forefront of international discussions concerning the crisis.

As a potentially (re-)emerging crisis, the renewed upheaval in Afghanistan was described by UNHCR as 'a seminal moment for the implementation of the Global Compact'; in particular, recent developments represent perhaps the clearest opportunity since the affirmation of the Compact in December 2018 to implement its ambitious vision relating to preparedness, contingency planning, evidence-based forecasting, and 'early efforts to address the drivers and triggers of refugee movements (as a complement to other related efforts). 126 The Core Group of the Support Platform for the Solutions Strategy for Afghan Refugees, established under the Global Compact, has reoriented its immediate focus to include preparedness efforts in neighbouring countries.



Richmond, Virginia, USA - Andrew Oberstadt

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Recommendations

Operationalising responsibilitysharing

- The international community must show stronger support for the GCR as a whole and urgently prioritise more equitable and predictable responsibility-sharing towards refugees before the next GRF in 2023. Donor governments must intensify their political and diplomatic efforts to support responsibility-sharing pledges made at the 2019 GRF. Host states must take a more consistent approach to ensure the GCR is being applied in all refugee-hosting contexts
- All actors must work together to translate the GCR into practice beyond high-level global moments like the GRF. UNHCR can better support implementation by working at country and regional levels to create stronger operational linkages with governments around GCR approaches. Humanitarian and development partners, including operational agencies and donors, can use it more prominently as a tool to engage and orient programming.
- Donor governments should take immediate steps
 to ensure responsibility-sharing towards refugees
 beyond foreign policy and international financing.
 Donor governments' GCR progress should also
 be assessed against their role in upholding
 international refugee protection at home, including
 by safeguarding the asylum space and supporting
 third country solutions.
- An important step would be the development of coherent 'one government" GCR policies articulating the role of different government agencies across both foreign and home affairs in its implementation and setting the direction for broader strategy development. Such an approach could leverage previous government coordination around Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) targets and national progress reporting.

Toward increased funding and better financing

- OECD's collaboration with UNHCR on refugeerelated financing flows should intensify to provide more detailed annual data on overall levels of funding, humanitarian versus development financing, modalities, recipient countries, etc. Better data on these financial flows will lead to a deeper understanding of, and improved accountability for, the financing of refugee responses, including gaps.
- Development actors must play a larger and more predictable role in financing the response to protracted forced displacement contexts, following the early groundwork laid by the World Bank and some key refugee donors. Other multilateral development banks in particular should provide much needed development financing to support host countries at the outset of refugee situations to incentivise refugee-friendly policies.
- Development financing partners should provide more opportunities to share learnings from their engagement (i.e., in terms of modalities, incentives, and barriers) and build greater flexibility into their responses to not only learn and adapt but also to adjust to shocks and opportunities in fluid refugee policy situations.
- Donors should take urgent steps to link their humanitarian and development sections and strategies to facilitate greater coherence and deliver on the nexus approach. These efforts should include engaging in policy dialogues with host countries.
- There should be greater focus on supporting government-led country level coordination through in-country aid tracking mechanisms that can provide data on both humanitarian assistance and development financing against national/sector response plans.
- In the absence of major reforms among government institutions and agencies, inter-government coordination and complementarity of approaches needs to be strengthened and institutionalised at regional and country levels to make it work.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Creating enabling conditions for implementation of the GCR

- Host countries' policy pledges at the first GRF must be more strongly utilised to support changes in policies and practices. This includes renewed stocktaking and matching exercises at the country, regional, and global level, supported by UNHCR.
- In the lead-up to the next GRF in 2023, key refugee donors should support and UNHCR should facilitate more information sharing between host countries on implementation beyond intra- regional dialogue, but also between different regions.
- UNHCR, together with humanitarian and development partners and with funding from donors, should focus more on the process of GCR implementation at the country level. This includes funding sustained government technical capacity to lead its GCR implementation and linking existing refugee responses to national development plans.
- As part of this approach, the UN system should work to identify the different ways in which it can optimise its engagement in support of refugees, building on previous work done to include refugees using the UN Sustainable Development Cooperation Framework and implementing nexus approaches looking at structures, coordination, planning and funding mechanisms.

- Existing resettlement targets globally are woefully insufficient, both substantively to address massive protection needs and symbolically as a reasonable demonstration of solidarity and responsibility-sharing with countries that host the majority of refugees, even when accounting for COVID-19 setbacks. As a priority for 2022, governments should commit to raise their resettlement targets. UN agencies and civil society must work together to hold states accountable against a further erosion of resettlement commitments.
- The Three-Year Resettlement Strategy expansion of the base of actors, scope, and size of resettlement and complementary pathways, as well as of protection, impact, and quality of resettlement and complementary pathways - must continue to be the focus, given the lack of progress against many targets and its description as a blueprint for the further development of third country solutions over ten years (2019-2028). This could be started through HLOM through a high-level event to take stock and outline efforts for what success would look like ahead of the next GRF in 2023.
- UNHCR, together with interested actors including states, international organisations, and civil society, must undertake coordinated strategic initiatives to bring in a wider range of states to support comprehensive refugee responses against which progress can be reported at the next GRF.

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

References

- United Nations Refugee Agency (UNHCR), Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2020, June 2021. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/60b638e37/unhcr-global-trends-2020 The figure for Venezuelans displaced abroad excludes those who have applied for asylum (851,100) or been granted refugee status (171,000) as of December 2020 and are therefore included in the total number of refugees and asylum seekers (30.5 million). See further UNHCR, "Refugee statistics. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/refugee-statistics/ (last accessed 14 October 2021)

 UNHCR, COVID-19 Supplementary Appeal, December 2020. Available at <a href="https://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/default/files/COVID-19%20Supplementary%20Appeal%202021%20-%2018%20Becember%202021%20Becember%202021%20Becember%202021%20Becember%202021%20Becember%202021%20Be
- February%202021.pdf
- UNHCR, Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2020, June 2021. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/60b638e37/unhcr-global-trends-2020 3
- World Bank Group (WBG), Global Economic Prospects, June 2021, Available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/35647/9781464816659.pdf
- Toganisation for Economic Oroperation and Development (OECD), "COVID-19 spending helped to lift foreign aid to an all-time high in 2020 Detailed Note", 13 April 2021. Available at https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-data/ODA-2020-detailed-summary.pdf
- UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at p. III. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4
- Türk, V., The Promise and Potential of the Global Compact on Refugees. International Journal of Refugee Law, Vol 30, Issue 4, December 2018, pp. 575 583, at p.580. Available at https://doi.org/10.1093/jirl/eev068
- 10
- International Rescue Committee (IRO), Will it make a difference?: Towards a Global Compact on Refugees and August 1, pp. 373–303, a p.303. Available at https://www.usc.eu.org/sites/default/files/document/2821/willtmakeadifference6718final.pdf
 United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) Resolution A/RES/11/1, The New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants', 16 September 2016, at para 68. Available at https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A RES 71.1.pdf 11
- Triggs, G. & Wall, P., The Makings of a Success: The Global Compact on Refugees and the Inaugural Global Refugee Forum, International Journal of Refugee Law, Volume 32, Issue 2, June 2020, pp. 283 339. Available at https://doi.org/10.1093/jirl/eeaa024 12
- Therr-Agency Coordination Platform for Refugees and Migrants from Venezuela (R4V), 'R4V Latin America and the Caribbean Venezuelan Refugees and Migrants in the Region', August 2021. Available at https://www.r4w.info/en/document/r4v-latin-america-and-caribbean-venezuelan-refugees-and-migrants-region-august-2021
 UNHCR, 'Refugee Data Finder: Methodology-Definition' available at https://www.unhcr.org/enfugee-statistics/methodology/definition/ (last accessed 4 October 2021)
 UNHCR, 'Guidance Note on International Protection Considerations for Venezuelans Update 1', May 2019. Available at https://documents/details/69883 13
- 15
- 16 Cartagena Declaration on Refugees, Colloquium on the International Protection of Refugees in Central America, Mexico and Panama, November 1984, at para III (3). Available at https://www.unhcr.org/about-us/background/45dc19084/cartagena-declaration-refugees-adopted-colloquium-international-protection.html
 UNHCR, Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2020, June 2021. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/60b638e37/unhcr-global-trends-2020

- R4V, '2021 Refugee and Migrant Response Plan Colombia Summary', 2021. Available at https://rmrp.r4v.info
 See for example UNHCR, 'Statement by the UN High Commissioner for refugees on Colombia's new temporary protection measures for Venezuelans', 8 February 2021. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2021/2/602246c84/statement-un-high-commissioner-refugees-colombias-new-temporary-protection.html

- UNHCR, 'Refugee Data Finder'. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/refugee-statistics/download/?url=8DXiqK (last accessed 4 October 2021)

 R4V, '2021 Refugee and Migrant Response Plan Colombia Summary', 2021. Available at https://rmrp.r4v.info.

 GCR Digital Platform, 'An overview of how the objectives of the Global Compact on Refugees is being addressed in Colombia in the context of the Venezuela situation', March 2021. Available at <a href="https://"htt 22 globalcompactrefugees.org/article/colombia
- Jubilut, L. & Casagrande, M. 'The Global Compact on Refugees and Latin America', December 2019, at p. 1 Available at https://www.e-ir.info/2019/12/17/the-global-compact-on-refugees-and-latin-america/
 UNGA Resolution A/RES/71/1, 'The New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants', 16 September 2016, at para 1. Available at https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A RES 71 1.pdf. Aside from a comparatively small population of refugees who have been living in Cox's Bazar since the 1990s.
- UNGA, A/73/12, Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Part II Global Compact on Refugees, at para 1. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/gcr/GCR_English.pdf UNHCR, 'Rohingya emergency'. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/rohingya-emergency.html (last accessed 15 October 2021)
- 27 UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 54. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4
- This finding is broadly consistent with the findings of Hargrave, K. Holloway, Barbelet, V. & Eusuf, M.A., 'The Rohingya response in Bangladesh and the Global Compact on Refugees: Lessons, challenges and opportunities', Humanitarian Policy Group, April 2020, Available at https://odi.org/en/publications/the-rohingva-response-in-bangladesh-and-the-global-compact-on-refugees-lessons-challenges-and-opportunities
- Statement by H. E. Sheikh Hasina Honourable Prime Minister Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh at the High-level Event on the Global Compact on Refugees: A Model for Greater Solidarity and Cooperation', September 2018. Available at https://bdun.org/2018/09/24/high-level-event-on-the-global-compact-on-refugees-a-model-for-greater-solidarity-and-cooperation-statement-by-h-e-sheikh-hasina-honble-prime-minister-government-of-the-peoples-ry. See also https://www.dhaktribune.com/bangladesh/2018/09/26/pm-hasina-welcomes-refugee-compact-at-the-un A few months later, Bangladesh joined 180 other States in voting to affirm the GCR in the UNGA: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/16561657/ln-en 30
- 31 'Statement by Her Excellency Sheikh Hasina, Honourable Prime Minister of Bangladesh at the High-Level Side Event on "Forcibly Displaced Myanmar Nationals (Rohingya) crisis: Imperatives for a Sustainable
- 'Statement by Her Excellency Sheikh Hasina, Honourable Prime Minister of Bangladesh at the High-Level Side Event on "Forcibly Displaced Myanmar Nationals (Rohingya) crisis: Imperatives for a Sustainable Solution", September 2021. Available at <a href="https://bdun.org/2021/09/22/statement-by-her-excellency-sheikh-hasina-honble-prime-minister-of-bangladesh-at-the-high-level-side-event-on-forcibly-displaced-myanmar-nationals-rohingya-crisis-imperatives-for/
 See 'FM Momen on Rohingya crisis: Repatriation is the only solution, not integration', August 2021. Available at https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/08/02/fm-momen-on-rohingya-crisis-repatriation-is-the-only-solution-not-integration">https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/08/02/fm-momen-on-rohingya-crisis-repatriation-is-the-only-solution-not-integration">https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/08/02/fm-momen-on-rohingya-crisis-repatriation-is-the-only-solution-not-integration">https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/08/02/fm-momen-on-rohingya-crisis-repatriation-is-the-only-solution-not-integration">https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/08/02/fm-momen-on-rohingya-crisis-repatriation-is-the-only-solution-not-integration">https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/08/02/fm-momen-on-rohingya-crisis-repatriation-is-the-only-solution-not-integration ("Bangladesh delawa daving fraction of the Rohingya Humanitarian Crisis (2021), Available at https://www.uhnc.org/5c658aed4

 UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 101. Available at https://www.uhnc.org/5c658aed4 32

- See 'Bangladesh allows education for Rohingya refugee children', January 2020. Available at https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/rohingya-crisis/2020/01/28/bangladesh-allows-education-for-rohingya-refugee-children 35
- Triggs, G. & Wall, P., The Makings of a Success: The Global Compact on Refugees and the Inaugural Global Refugee Forum, International Journal of Refugee Law, Volume 32, Issue 2, June 2020, pp. 283 -36 339, at pp. 307-308 (emphasis added, references omitted). Available at https://doi.org/10.1093/ijrl/eeaa024
- Crawford N. & O'Callaghan S., 'The Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework: Responsibility-sharing and self-reliance in East Africa', Humanitarian Policy Group Working Paper, September 2019. Available at: https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/12935.pdf 37
- Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), Position Paper: EU Migration and Asylum Pact and its Impact on Vulnerable Populations, October 2020. Available at https://www.nrc.no/globalassets/pdf/position-papers/ 38 eu-migration-and-asylum-pact/position-paper-eu-migration-and-asylum-pact - 12oct/202.pdf See also European Council on Refugees and Exiles (ECRE). Joint statement: The new Pact on Asylum and Migration: An Opportunity Seized or Squandered, February 2020. Available at https://ecre.org/joint-statement-the-new-pact-on-asylum-and-migration-an-opportunity-seized-or-squandered/
 Global Asylum Governance and the European Union's Role (ASILE) Project, Policy Brief: Implement in the United Nations Global Compact on Refugees? Global Asylum Governance and the European Union, June 2021 at p. 7. Available at https://www.asileproject.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/PB_2021_26.pdf
- Crawford N. & O'Callaghan S., 'The Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework: Responsibility-sharing and self-reliance in East Africa', Humanitarian Policy Group Working Paper, September 2019, at p. 4. Available at: https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/12935.pdf

 See GCR Digital Platform. Available at https://globalcompactrefugees.org/channel/pledges-contributions (last accessed 4 October 2021)

 Denmark Ministry of Foreign Affairs, The World We Share: Denmark's Strategy for Development Cooperation, August 2021. Available at https://um.dk/en/news/newsdisplaypage/?newsid=f401381f-a342-4d38-40
- 42
- Global Refugee Forum (GRF), 'Statement and Speeches Denmark, 17 December 2021'. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/events/conferences/5df903317/statement-from-denmark.html 43
- Danish Refugee Council (DRC), 'Statement on the Danish proposal to potentially externalize the asylum system', June 2021. Available at he-asylum-procedure/ Sea also UNHCR, 'Observations on the Proposal for amendments to the Danish Alien Act (Introduction of the possibility to transfer asylum-seekers for adjudication of asylum claims and accommodation in third countries)', March 2021. Available at https://www.refworld.org/docid/6045dde94.html Regional Durable Solutions Secretariat (ReDSS), Re-thinking the Displacement Financing Architecture: The Horn of Africa, April 2021. Available at https://tregionaldss.org/displacementfinancing/wp-content/ 45
- 46
- uploads/2021/06/Solutions Financing Synthesis-Report EFA SP.pdf
 InterAction, Toward Equitable and Predictable Responsibility Sharing An Analysis of State Pledges at the Global Refugee Forum, April 2021. Available at https://www.interaction.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/GRF-Pledge-Report-04-19-21.pdf 47
- 48 UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Indicator Framework, July 2019, Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5cf907854.pdf
- UNHCR, 'Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme Update on Budgets and Funding', March 2021. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/605c429d4.pdf. UNHCR, UNHCR's Most Underfunded Situations in 2021, September 2021. Available at https://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/default/files/Underfunding-Report-2021.pdf#_
- 50 ga=2.10064821.1691134291.1633331081-1626783001.1629971024
- ISCG, 'Rohingya Humanitarian Crisis Joint Response Plan 2021 funding update as of 31 August 2021'. Available at <a href="https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/files/documents/files/2021_08_31_draft_funding_updates_irg_2021_pdf
 UNHCR, 'Uganda Refugee Response Plan (RRP) 2020-2021 Q2 2021 Funding Update', September 2021. Available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/RRP%20Update%20Q2%20 51
- 52
- R4V, "Funding Colombia", October 2021. Available at https://www.r4v.info/en/funding (last accessed 17 October 2021).
 OECD, "COVID-19 spending helped to lift foreign aid to an all-time high in 2020 Detailed Note", 13 April 2021. Available at <a href="https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-develop finance-data/ODA-2020-detailed-summary.pdf
- CECD, 'dat at Glance'. Available at (last accessed 5 October 2021). https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-data/aid-at-a-glance.htm (last accessed 5 October 2021). Forichon, K., 'Financing Refugee-Hosting Contexts: An analysis of the DAC's contribution to burden- and responsibility-sharing in supporting refugees and their host communities', OECD Development Cooperation Working Papers, No. 48, December 2018. Available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/development/financing-refugee-hosting-contexts 24db9b07-en
- OECD, 'Thancing for Refugee Situations', OECD Development Policy Series, No. 24, December 2019. Available at https://www.oecd-iiibrary.org/docserver/02d6b022-en.pdf?expires=1633712790&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=10A8369EDAD73BC8A95D3DEC8AB9E5AE
 OECD, 'DAC High Level Communique', 31 October 2017. Available at https://www.oecd.org/dac/development-assistance-committee/DAC-HLM-Communique-2020.pdf 57
- UNHCR, Outcomes of the Global Refugee Forum 2019, 2020. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5ecd458c4.pdf

Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

- 60 InterAction, Toward Equitable and Predictable Responsibility Sharing - An Analysis of State Pledges at the Global Refugee Forum, April 2021. Available at https://www.interaction.org/wp-content/
- uploads/2021/04/GRF-Pledge-Report-04-19-21.pdf

 Betts, A., Chaara, I., Omata, N., & Stark, O., 'Refugee Economies in Uganda: What Difference Does the Self-Reliance Model Make?', University of Oxford Refugee Studies Centre, January 2019. Available at 61 Betts, A., Orlaad, 1, Orlaad, 1, Orlaad, 10, Orlaad, 1
- 62

- 64 Crawford, N., O'Callaghan, S., Holloway, K., & Lowe, C., 'The Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework: Progress in Uganda', HPG Working Paper, September 2019. Available at https://cdn.odi.org/
- media/documents/12941.pdf

 ReDSS, Re-thinking the Displacement Financing Architecture: The Horn of Africa, April 2021, p. 4. Available at https://regionaldss.org/displacementfinancing/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Solutions Financing Synthesis-Report EFA SP.pdf 65
- R4V 'Funding Portal as of 1 October 2021'. Available at https://www.r4v.info/en/funding (last accessed 4 October 2021).
- R4V, End of Year Report 2020, July 2021. Available at https://www.r4v.info/en/document/mrp-2020-end-year-report; and R4V, 'Funding Update', December 2019. Available at https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/details/73413
- 68 See https://www.r4v.info/en/funding/ (last accessed 27 October 2021)
- See 'Canada mobilizes international donors to support Venezuelan refugees, migrants and countries in the region', June 2021. Available at https://www.canada.ca/en/global-affairs/news/2021/06/canada-mobilizes-international-donors-to-support-venezuelan-refugees-migrants-and-countries-in-the-region.html
- Brookings Institute, "Venezuelan refugees and their receiving communities need funding, not sympathy update", February 2021. Available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2021/02/26/venezuelan-70
- Denmark Ministry of Foreign Affairs, The World We Share: Denmark's Strategy for Development Cooperation, August 2021. Available at https://um.dk/en/news/newsdisplaypage/?newsid=f401381f-a342-4d38-aa4f-b10a312a6287 71
- OECD, DAC Recommendation on Humanitarian-Development-Peace Nexus, February 2019. Available at https://legalinstruments.oecd.org/public/doc/643/643.en.pdf 72
- International Network on Conflict and Fragility (INCAF), Common Position on supporting comprehensive responses in refugee situations, December 2019. Available at https://www.oecd.org/dac/conflict-fragility-resilience/humanitarian-financing/INCAF-common-position-on-supporting-comprehensive-responses-in-refugee-situations.pdf
 ReDSS, Re-thinking the Displacement Financing Architecture: The Horn of Africa, April 2021. Available at https://regionaldss.org/displacementfinancing/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Solutions Financing 73
- 74 Synthesis-Report EFA SP.pdf.
- Synitesis-report ETA Gr., bd.

 Forichon, K., 'Financing Refugee-Hosting Contexts: An analysis of the DAC's contribution to burden- and responsibility-sharing in supporting refugees and their host communities', OECD Development Cooperation Working Papers, No. 48, December 2018. Available at https://www.oecd-lilibrary.org/development/financing-refugee-hosting-contexts_24db9b07-en

 WBG, IDA18 Retrospective: Investing in Growth, Resilience and Opportunity through Innovation, April 2021. Available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35362 75
- 76
- WBG, 'World Bank Announces \$2.2 Billion Scale-up in Support for Refugees and Host Communities at First Global Refugee Forum', 17 December 2019. Available at https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ press-release/2019/12/17/world-bank-announces-us22-billion-scale-up-in-support-for-refugees-and-host-communities-at-first-global-refugee-forum 77 78
- WBG, 'IDA18 Regional Sub-Window for Refugees and Host Communities'. Available at https://ida.worldbank.org/replenishments/ida-18replenishments/ida18-regional-sub-window-for-refugees-host-communities (last accessed 8 October 2021)
 WBG, 'Window for Host Communities and Refugees'. Available at https://ida.worldbank.org/replenishments/ida19-replenishments/ida18-regional-sub-window-for-refugees-host-communities (last accessed 8 October 2021) 79
- 80
- 81 WBG, 'Refugee Policy Review Framework - Technical Note', May 2021. Available at <a href="https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159851621920940734/refugee-policy-publication/documents-reports/docu
- wide, herioge Policy Neview Praintwork Technical Note; way 2021. Available at <a href="https://cocuments.wo/indualin.org/er/publication/documents-reports/ 82
- Gagnon, J. & Rodrigues, M., 'Towards More Sustainable Solutions to Forced Displacement: What measures are donor countries applying to forced displacement in developing countries?', OECD Development Policy Papers, No. 34, December 2020. Available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/development/towards-more-sustainable-solutions-to-forced-displacement d1d44405-en
 European Commission (EC), Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and Committee of the Regions Lives in Dignity: 83
- 84 from Aid-dependence to Self-reliance, April 2016. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/policies/refugees-idp/Communication Forced Displacement Development 2016.pdf
- 85 EU, Learning Lessons from the EUTF – Phase 2 – Paving the way for future programming on migration, mobility and forced displacement, February 2021. Available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/EU Phase2 learning lessons from the eutf.pdf
- TESOUTCES/ELU PHISSEZ TESTITING TESSONS TROTT THE GUALDUI EU, 'European Commission welcomes the endorsement of the new €79.5 billion NDICI-Global Europe instrument to support EU's external action', March 2021. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/commission/ 86 presscorner/detail/en/IP 21 1267
- European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM), 'Crunching the numbers of the long-term EU Budget', July 2020. Available at https://ecdpm.org/multimedia/crunching-numbers-long-term-eu-budget/
 Gagnon, J. & Rodrigues, M., 'Towards More Sustainable Solutions to Forced Displacement: What measures are donor countries applying to forced displacement in developing countries?', OECD Development Policy Papers, No. 34, December 2020. Available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/development/towards-more-sustainable-solutions-to-forced-displacement d1d44405-en 88
- 89
- GCR Digital Platform, 'Special Initiative on Forced Displacement', Available at https://globalcompactrefugees.org/article/special-initiative-forced-displacement (last accessed on 11 October)

 German Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), Helping refugees build a future: The Special Initiative on Displacement, July 2020. Available at https://www.bmz.de/resource/blob/23686/2f49e1cb7f6cacc82c822742ac9d2d75/Materialie315-Helping%20refugees%20build%20a%20future
- 91 Gagnon, J. & Rodrigues, M., 'Towards More Sustainable Solutions to Forced Displacement: What measures are donor countries applying to forced displacement in developing countries?', OECD Development Policy Papers, No. 34, December 2020. Available at https://www.oecd-library.org/development/towards-more-sustainable-solutions-to-forced-displacement_d1d44405-en
 BMZ, Helping refugees build a future: The Special Initiative on Displacement, July 2020. Available at https://www.bmz.de/resource/blob/23686/249e1cb7f6cacc82c822742ac9d2d75/Materialie315-
- Helping%20refugees%20build%20a%20future
- Helping%2Uretugees%2Ubulid%2Ua%2Unture
 R4V, 'Colombia TPS: GIFMM Support Plan for the Implementation of the Temporary Protection Status for Venezuelans', 2021. Available at https://www.r4v.info/en/document/gifmm-colombia-support-plan-implementation-temporary-protection-status-venezuelans
 OECD, 'Financing for Refugee Situations', OECD Development Policy Series, No. 24, December 2019. Available at <a href="https://www.oecd-iiibrary.org/docserver/02d6b022-en.pdf?expires=1633712790&id-id&accname=guest&checksum=10A8369EDAD73BC8AB9E5ABE 95ABE5ABE 84V, '2021 Refugee and Migrant Response Plan', 2021. Available at https://www.rdv.info/en/document/mrp-2021
 UNHCR, 'Statement by the UN High Commissioner for refugees on Colombia's new temporary protection measures for Venezuelans', 8 February 2021. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2021/2/602246684/statement-un-high-commissioner-refugees-colombias-new-temporary-protection.html
 PolSSS Ref highing the Distribution of the Temporary Protection of the Tem 93

- 97 ReDSS, Re-thinking the Displacement Financing Architecture: The Horn of Africa, April 2021. Available at https://regionaldss.org/displacementfinancing/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Solutions_Financing_Synthesis-Report_EFA_SP.pdf
- See https://globalcompactrefugees.org/article/support-platforms
- UNHCR, 'Asylum Capacity Support Group (ACSG) Mechanism: Fact Sheet', Available at https://acsg-portal.org/acsg-matches/. See https://acsg-portal.org/acsg-matches/. 99
- 101 GCR, paras. 28-29.
- 102
- UNHCR, A Solidarity Approach for the People of Rakhine State (October 2018), 1. See also K. Hargrave, K. Holloway, V. Barbelet & M. A. Eusuf *The Rohingya response in Bangladesh and the Global Compact on Refugees: Lessons, challenges and opportunities* (Humanitarian Policy Group, April 2020), 16-17.

 See also A. Severson, Reviving a regional approach to the Rohingya, Bangkok Post, 8 September 2021. Available at https://www.bangkokpost.com/opinion/opinion/2178247/reviving-a-regional-approach-to-the-rohingyay; K. Hargrave, K. Holloway, V. Barbelet & M. A. Eusuf *The Rohingya response in Bangladesh and the Global Compact on Refugees: Lessons, challenges and opportunities* (Humanitarian Policy Group, April 2020), 39. 103
- https://bdun.org/2021/09/22/statement-by-her-excellency-sheikh-hasina-honble-prime-minister-of-bangladesh-at-the-high-level-side-event-on-forcibly-displaced-myanmar-nationals-rohingya-crisis-imperatives-for.
- 105 See https://globalcompactrefugees.org/article/support-platforms
- 106
- See https://globalcompactrefugees.org/mirps-en
 UNHCR, 'IOM, UNHCR announce temporary suspension of resettlement travel for refugees', 17 March 2020. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2020/3/5e7103034/jom-unhcr-announcetemporary-suspension-resettlement-travel-refugees.html
- 108
- UNHCR, 'Joint Statement: UN refugee chief Grandi and IOM's Vitorino announce resumption of resettlement travel for refugees', 18 June 2020. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2020/6/5eeb85be4/joint-statement-un-refugee-chief-grandi-ioms-vitorino-announce-resumption.html
 UNHCR, 'With refugee resettlement at a record low in 2020, UNHCR calls on States to offer places and save lives', 25 January 2021. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2021/1/600e79ea4/refugee- 109 ent-record-low-2020-unhcr-calls-states-offer-places-save.html
- 110
- UNHCR, The Three-Year Strategy (2019-2021) on Resettlement and Complementary Pathways, June 2019. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/protection/resettlement/5d15db254/three-year-strategy-resettlement-complementary-pathways.html
 OECD and UNHCR, Safe Pathways for Refugees II: OECD-UNHCR Study on Third-country Solutions for Refugees: Admissions for family reunification, education, and employment purposes between 2010 and
- 2019, March 2020. Available at https://globalcompactrefugees.org/sites/default/files/2021-05/UNHCR%20Safe%20Pathways%20for%20Refugees%20ll%20Web-version001.pdf
 UNHCR, 'Resettlement Data Finder'. Available at https://rsq.unhcr.org/en/#p9Hx (last accessed 15 October 2021)
 Shear, M. 'The Biden administration will raise the cap on refugee admissions to 125,000°, New York Ines, 20 September 2021. Available at https://www.nytimes.com/2021/09/20/us/politics/biden-refugee-cap.html
 UNHCR, 'Solutions', UN Doc EC/72/SC/CRP.12, 17 June 2021, para. 15. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/60e44a784
- 114 UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 2. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4
 See https://reporting.unhcr.org/donor-ranking (last accessed 15 October 2021)
- 116
- Also included as Indicator 3.1.2 in UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees: Indicator Framework, July 2019. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5cf907854.pdf
 Data drawn from UNHCR, 'Resettlement Data Find'. Available at https://rsq.unhcr.org/ (last accessed 15 October 2021)
- 119
- UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 48. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4
 UNHCR, 'Progress Report: Measuring the Impact of Hosting, Protecting and Assisting Refugees', July 2020. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/events/conferences/5f0570754/measuring-impact-hosting-refugees-progress-report.html
- 121 WBG, The Global Cost of Inclusive Refugee Education, February 2021. Available at https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/159281614191477048/the-global-costof-inclusive-refugee-education
- UNHCR, 'Progress Report: Measuring the Impact of Hosting, Protecting and Assisting Refugees', July 2020, at p. 3. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/events/conferences/5f0570754/measuring-impact-122 hosting-refugees-progress-report.html
- UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 46. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4. The focus is on 'the 'development of harmonized or interoperable standards for the 123
- collection, analysis and sharing of age, gender, disability, and diversify disaggregated data on refugees and returnees". See, generally, Betts, A., Protection by persuasion: International Cooperation in the Refugee Regime (Cornell University Press, 2009)
- 125 UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 1. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4
- 126 UNHCR, Global Compact on Refugees Booklet, December 2018, at para. 8-9; 52-53. Available at https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4

The Global Compact on Refugees Three Years On: Navigating barriers and maximising incentives in support of refugees and host countries

Acknowledgments

This report was written by Catherine Osborn and Patrick Wall who were commissioned to conduct the research by DRC, IRC, and NRC. The authors would like to thank the many government officials, humanitarian and development partners and staff from DRC, IRC, and NRC who not only graciously provided their time, but were willing to engage frankly and share their insights and analysis on GCR implementation in terms of key learnings, barriers, and incentives.

The design of the research and technical overview was provided by Farida Bena and Najmah Ali (IRC), Liselott Verduijn (DRC), and Brooke Lauten and Anna Stein (NRC), who the authors thank for their guidance and support during the research process and report drafting.





